RECEIVED

May 25 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Docket No. 22-ALJ-07-0008-CC
Appellate Case No. 2022-001126

Gullah/Geechee Fishing Association, Inc.,Appellant,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, and
Bay Point Island, LLC,Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Leslie S. Lenhardt, Esquire

S.C. ENVIRONMENTAL LAW PROJECT
510 Live Oak Drive
Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464
(843) 527-0078

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Administrative Law Court erred in finding that it lacks “procedural jurisdiction” to hear Appellant’s contested case.
2. Whether the Administrative Law Court erred in finding Appellant’s Request for Final Review was untimely.
3. Whether the Administrative Law Court erred in finding that Appellant’s Freedom of Information Act requests did not qualify it as an “affected person.”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This contested case stems from a permit issued to Respondent Bay Point Island, LLC (“BPI, LLC”) by Respondent South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC” or “the Department”) authorizing the installation of an individual onsite wastewater system, also referred to as a septic tank system, on Bay Point Island, a barrier island located in Beaufort County, South Carolina.

Appellant filed a Request for Final Review Conference with the DHEC Board, which was denied on December 17, 2021. On January 17, 2022, Appellant filed a Request for Contested Case Hearing. On May 9, 2022, BPI, LLC filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. On May 27, 2022, DHEC and Appellant both filed Motions for Summary Judgment. On June 20, 2022, Administrative Law Judge S. Phillip Lenski held a hearing on all three pending motions. On July 15, 2022, Judge Lenski issued an Order Granting Bay Point’s Motion to Dismiss on the basis that the ALC lacked “procedural jurisdiction” to hear the matter based on Appellant’s “untimely filing” of its Request for Final Review. On August 12, 2022, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the appropriate standard of review. *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Motor Vehicles*, 380 S.C. 600, 604, 670 S.E.2d 674, 676 (Ct. App. 2008) (original citations omitted). Pursuant to the APA, S.C. Code Section 1-23-610(B), this Court may affirm the ALC's decision or remand the case for further proceedings, or it may reverse or modify the ALC’s decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant have been prejudiced because its finding, conclusion, or decision was:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

An appellate Court “will correct the decision of the ALC if it is affected by an error of law, S.C. Code Ann. § 1–23–380(5)(d) (Supp.2010), and questions of law are reviewed de novo.” *S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Blue Moon of Newberry, Inc.*, 397 S.C. 256, 260, 725 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2012), (reh'g denied May 4, 2012) (citing *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)). Under this standard, a reviewing Court may reverse or modify an agency decision based on errors of law. *Turner v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Bay Point Island is a barrier island in Beaufort County, South Carolina. The island is accessible only by water and aside from the landing dock, no other man-made structure exists currently on the approximately 400-acre island. This island is an ecologically and culturally significant natural resource and asset, a portion of which is recognized as an Audubon Important Bird Area and loggerhead sea turtle nesting habitat.

Bay Point Island and other sea islands in Beaufort have additional cultural and historical significance to the Gullah/Geechee Nation, a people from numerous African ethnic groups linked with indigenous Americans who created the unique African-based Creole language, “Gullah,” and traditions, from which the later came “Geechee.” The Gullah/Geechee people have been considered “a nation within a nation” from the time of chattel enslavement in the United States until they officially became an internationally recognized nation on July 2, 2000. The people of the Gullah/Geechee Nation have cultivated coastal lands and fished from the waters of the Atlantic Ocean for hundreds of years, carrying on their cultural traditions, language, and customs to this day.

Appellant’s mission is to advocate for the members of the Gullah/Geechee Nation, whose livelihoods depend on the ocean’s resources, particularly in and around Port Royal Sound where Bay Point Island is located. Formally organized in 2010, Appellant is headquartered on St. Helena Island in Beaufort County, but its members live and work on the sea islands and coastal lands from North Carolina to Florida, including along the shores of Bay Point Island. Appellant’s members consist of businesses whose profits derive from the harvesting of various types of seafood around the sea island region, including oysters, fish, shrimp, and crabs. Many members also provide

interactive educational demonstrations to groups concerning Gullah/Geechee fishing traditions, and harvest fish and shellfish for their own sustenance.

BPI, LLC is a development entity that has sought approval to develop Bay Point Island for years through the construction of a high-end luxury resort and residential subdivision, and presently seeks to initiate construction of a series of single-family houses. Appellant has been involved in seeking protections for Bay Point Island as a priceless cultural and environmental asset, in particular its members rights to use the public trust tidelands in, on and around the island.

Wary of BPI, LLC's development plans, Appellant, through its attorneys, filed a Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") request with DHEC on July 19, 2021, seeking "[a]ny and all applications and file documents for NPDES or land disturbance permits for Bay Point Island, likely submitted by Bay Point Island, LLC, or for any requests or file documents relating to a Coastal Zone Consistency Certification for Bay Point Island, LLC." (R. p. 135). DHEC responded on August 31, 2022 but produced no documents relevant to Appellant's request. (R. p. 5)

Later that day, August 31, 2021, Appellant submitted a second FOIA request to DHEC, this time requesting the following:

Any applications for permits or permits issued by DHEC for septic tanks or land disturbance permits or coastal zone consistency certifications for the following properties located on Bay Point Island:

R300 045 000 0001 through
R300 045 000 0043

Owners should all be Bay Point Island LLC but these TMS numbers were not included in the earlier request that I submitted. We are also seeking specifically septic tank applications in addition to any other NPDES permits.

(R. p. 137)

Unbeknownst to Appellant, on that same day, August 31, 2021, BPI, LLC submitted an application to the Department seeking to install a septic system on Bay Point Island; per this

application, the proposed septic system would handle less than 1500 gallons per day (gpd) of domestic waste. (R. p. 144) DHEC requested additional information from BPI, LLC on September 15, 2021. (R. p. 102) BPI, LLC responded to that request on September 20, 2021. *Id.* DHEC ultimately approved the application and issued the permit on September 23, 2021. (R. p. 107)

Meanwhile, the Department failed to answer Appellant’s August 31 FOIA request until October 20, 2021—well beyond the mandated time for a FOIA response and nearly one month after the permit was issued—finally responding that “OCRM staff said they do not have any information responsive to the above-referenced request. We also researched the information you provided and were unable to locate any files.” (R. p. 46) Appellant’s second FOIA request clearly covered BPI’s septic application, yet the Department’s failure to respond timely and accurately left Appellant – whether intentional or not – in the dark as to continued to remain unaware of its existence because neither the septic application nor septic permit were ever produced by DHEC. Instead, Appellant’s attorney received notice of the septic permit through an email forwarded by a third party (Beaufort County) on October 27, 2021. (R. p. 48)

ARGUMENT

The facts of this matter lead to only one conclusion: DHEC is solely responsible for creating the circumstances resulting in Appellant’s lack of notice and the ALC’s dismissal of Appellant’s appeal. DHEC violated the mandate of FOIA in failing to provide the requested notification of Respondent BPI, LLC’s septic tank permit; it failed to recognize Appellant as an “affected person” under S.C. Code Ann. §44-1-60 despite Appellant’s diligent attempts to learn of any permit applications pending or issued related to BPI, LLC’s development plans; and it has violated Appellant’s Constitutional rights to due process by failing to provide notice and an opportunity to be heard on these types of permits. As a result, the ALC’s Order is based on the

premise that the Gullah/Geechee Fishing Association should have requested notice of permit decision that it had absolutely no way of knowing existed due to DHEC's lack of publicly-noticing such applications. The ALC dismissed this appeal, despite DHEC's failure to timely and accurately respond to a FOIA request seeking information related to any permit applications, and DHEC's failure to provide notice of the permit decision even though it knew that the Appellant had requested that exact information in writing. Appellant urges this Court to correct the wrongful dismissal of Appellant's contested case and order a remand so Appellant may be heard on the merits.

1. The ALC erred in finding that it lacks "procedural jurisdiction" to hear Appellant's contested case.

Respondent BPI, LLC, asserted that the Court lacked "procedural jurisdiction" to hear Appellant's claims based on Appellant's purported failure to follow all applicable procedures necessary to initiate a contested case, thereby depriving the Court of the "power to render the particular judgment requested." (R. p. 81) The Court agreed, finding that "since the Petitioner did not submit a written request to notified [sic], and did not file its RFR within the fifteen (15) day statutory window, this Court is without authority to extend the deadline to file an RFR based the [sic] Petitioner's actual notice of the Department's determination." (R. p. 11) According to the ALC, this timing divested the Court of its "procedural jurisdiction" to hear the entire case. Appellant asserts this conclusion constitutes an error of law.

Subject matter jurisdiction is widely defined as "the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong." *Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 235, 237-38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994). Our Supreme Court has held that "the question of compliance with rules, regulations, and statutes governing an appeal [from an administrative agency] is one of appellate jurisdiction[.]" *Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assocs.*, 394 S.C. 185, 188, 714

S.E.2d 547, 549 (2011). “The failure of a party to comply with the procedural requirements for perfecting an appeal may deprive the Court of ‘appellate’ jurisdiction over the case, but it does not affect the Court’s subject matter jurisdiction.” *Great Games, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 339 S.C. 79, 82 n.5, 529 S.E.2d 6, 7 n.5 (2000) (emphasis added). The ALC cited a number of cases in support of the additional contention that a party’s failure to follow intermediate administrative steps at the agency level prior to requesting a contested case hearing deprives the ALC of “procedural jurisdiction” (R. pp. 6-7); however, each and every one is an unreported decision of the ALC, none of which are controlling. *See, e.g.*, Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR (“Memorandum opinions and unpublished orders have no precedential value and should not be cited except in proceedings in which they are directly involved.”). Appellant can find no case law supporting the use of Administrative Law Court decisions as precedent to support the ALC’s contention there is no procedural jurisdiction here.

It is undisputed that in this matter, the ALC has power to hear and determine cases of this general class, i.e., appeals from a decision of the DHEC Board, and to render the particular judgment requested by Appellants. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60 (providing that “[a]ll department decisions involving the issuance . . . of permits” are subject to a request for final review by the DHEC Board, and the Board’s decision may be appealed to the ALC for a contested case hearing.) Accordingly, the ALC’s conclusion that it lacked jurisdiction over this contested case due to a purported failure to timely file its RFR constitutes an error of law.

2. The ALC erred in finding Appellant’s RFR was untimely.

The ALC’s finding that it lacked jurisdiction hinges on the Court’s further conclusion that Appellant’s RFR was untimely. For the reasons explained below, Appellant asserts that this conclusion constitutes an error of law.

BPI, LLC asserted that DHEC staff's decision to issue the septic permit became final on October 8, 2021, because no written request for a final hearing was submitted to the DHEC board by that date. (R. p. 80) BPI, LLC further argued, and the ALC concluded, that Appellant should have instead requested in writing to be notified of relevant septic tank permitting decisions pursuant to S.C. Code Section 44-1-60(E)(1), which provides in pertinent part:

Notice of a department decision must be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested to . . . affected persons who have requested in writing to be notified.

In finding that Appellant's RFR was untimely, the ALC overlooked the legislative intent of applicable statutory law and ignored several other factors, to include: the lack of stated procedure for making an "affected persons" request under Section 44-1-60(E); the practical impossibility of making such a request under the Department's current permitting regime; the fact that Appellant was actively seeking the exact same information by another valid, legal avenue (FOIA); the fact that the Department failed to comply with its statutory obligations under FOIA; and the fact that the Department is responsible for all of the above due to its failure to review septic permits for consistency with the State Coastal Management Program and its related exclusion of septic tank applications and permits from public notice.

A. No uniform procedure exists for notifying DHEC of "affected persons" status.

Both BPI, LLC and the ALC suggest that Appellant could have simply notified the Department that it wanted to be considered an "affected person" under Section 44-1-60(E). While this sounds simple in theory, the task in actuality is effectively impossible. The Supreme Court considered Section 44-1-60(E) in 2010, stating that "the statute is not clear as to how an individual or entity acquires the status of "affected persons who have asked to be notified." *S.C. Coastal Conserv. League v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 390 S.C. 418, 427, 702 S.E.2d 246, 251

(2010). The Court further noted that “DHEC never stated it followed a formal procedure as to how a party acquires ‘affected persons who have asked to be notified’ status[;] [t]o the contrary, DHEC indicated it took an informal approach in deciding which parties it notified of its decisions.” *Id.* at 428, 252. While the Court declined to set forth a process of party notification in its opinion, that same year, the South Carolina Legislature attempted to clarify procedures by adding the following language to Subsection (E)(1): “Affected persons may request in writing to be notified by regular mail or electronic mail in lieu of certified mail.” *See* Act No. 278 § 1 (2010). However, this additional language is essentially meaningless in providing any additional direction as to how one can become considered an “affected person.”¹

BPI, LLC suggests that Appellant is inappropriately attempting to shift the burden of notifying affected parties to DHEC, but the Supreme Court has previously declined to entertain that contention where DHEC was charged with notice. *See Coastal Conserv. League*, 390 S.C. at 428, 702 S.E. 2d at 252 (“The record clearly establishes throughout the permit application process in this matter, the League was not an obscure or unknown party Therefore, [developer’s] bold statement that DHEC should not bear the burden of ‘guess[ing] which commenter or member of the public would like to know about particular decisions’ is unavailing under these facts.”). In fact, even the ALC noted that “the term ‘affected person’ is interpreted rather broadly.” (Order Granting Resp’t Motion to Dismiss at 6). Indeed, the burden for notification should not be shifted to the public to guess whether and when DHEC might be considering a permit application in every geographical area of the State where it may be affected. The solution here is simple: notify the

¹ A review of DHEC’s website reveals no additional guidance on this process. In contrast, for example, the DHEC website provides detailed instructions on how an individual, interest group, or business entity can place their name on a mailing list to be notified about NPDES/ND permits, including the contact information they require as well as detailed contact information for individual staff members within the agency (names and email addresses, phone numbers, mailing addresses, and internet links). *See* “Mailing Lists for NPDES/ND Permits,” available at <https://scdhec.gov/mailing-lists-npdesnd-permits#individual> (last visited Nov. 10, 2022).

public of all septic system applications and/or issued permits in the coastal zone, just as DHEC does with every other type of permit as part of its mandatory Coastal Zone Consistency Review.

See discussion infra, pp. 17-20.

B. Appellant made other attempts to obtain permit information under the Freedom of Information Act.

BPI, LLC argued that this contested case should be dismissed due to inaction of the Appellant; however, this argument has no basis in fact. Because DHEC has unilaterally decided septic tank permits are exempted from Coastal Zone Consistency review, BPI, LLC and DHEC evaded public scrutiny of this specific permit, forcing Appellant to seek this information via other valid legal means, specifically the Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Section 30-4-10, *et seq.*

The ALC asserts that it has no jurisdiction to remedy purported FOIA violations, and Appellant agrees. However, Appellant raises this issue not to obtain relief or enforce the provisions of FOIA, but to instead show that: (1) it was actively trying to obtain documents regarding the septic application and permit at issue during the time period in question; (2) the Department's failure to timely and accurately respond to such requests as is required by statute, then Appellant would have received notice and been able to challenge the permit within 15 days of the issuance; and (3) DHEC was on notice of Appellant's material interest in this particular property sufficient to constitute "affected person" status.

a. DHEC failed to timely comply with disclosure of public records pursuant to FOIA.

Finding it "vital in a democratic society that public business be performed in an open and public manner," the South Carolina Legislature enacted FOIA in 1987 "so that citizens shall be advised of the performance of public officials and of the decisions that are reached in public

activity[.]” S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-15. To that end, FOIA provides a very specific timeline for record production that must be followed by public bodies:

Each public body, upon written request for records . . . shall within ten days . . . of the receipt of the request, notify the person making the request of its determination and the reasons for it[.] . . . This determination must constitute the final opinion of the public body as to the public availability of the requested public record[.]

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(C). After the public body provides this ten-day final determination notice, the next clock begins to run:

If the request is granted, the record must be furnished or made available for inspection or copying no later than thirty calendar days from the date on which the final determination was provided.

Appellant submitted its first written request for records to DHEC pursuant to FOIA on July 19, 2021. DHEC responded on August 3, 2021 that it had no responsive documents related to septic tank applications or permits, only documents and correspondence for an unrelated issue on Bay Point Island. The next communication received from DHEC was dated August 31, 2021, stating that the Department had no information or documents to produce. With the second FOIA request submitted to the agency on August 31, 2021, no response of any kind was provided by DHEC until October 20, 2021, fifty-one (51) days after the initial request was made.

b. DHEC failed to accurately disclose the existence of public records in its possession pursuant to FOIA.

DHEC received BPI, LLC’s permit application on August 31, 2021, the same date as Appellant’s second FOIA request. DHEC finally responded on October 20, 2021, stating that it had no records to disclose. However, DHEC admitted that it had in its possession, at a minimum, the following: (1) BPI’s permit application (submitted August 31, 2021); (2) DHEC’s request for additional information from BPI (September 15, 2021); (3) BPI’s response to that request (September 20, 2021); and (4) the finalized permit (September 23, 2021).

FOIA creates an affirmative duty on the part of public bodies to disclose information. *Bellamy v. Brown*, 305 S.C. 291, 295, 408 S.E.2d 219, 222 (1991). Despite this, BPI argued that DHEC only had an obligation to search for records in its possession prior to the date of the FOIA request, i.e., items received or generated on or before August 31, 2021. This conclusion was provided without legal authority and is contrary to the General Assembly’s stated purpose of FOIA. Even if DHEC had no continuing obligation to disclose information through the date of its ten-day final determination notice, it is undisputed that DHEC had at least one item in its possession—BPI’s permit application—on the date of the FOIA request. That singular document would have been enough to give Appellant notice that a permit application was pending. In other words, had DHEC properly and timely disclosed even the existence of BPI’s septic permit application, Appellant would have been able to submit a comment letter, track its progress, request notification of ant decision on that application and submit a RFR pursuant to the typical time frame. BPI acknowledges as much in its Motion to Dismiss (“[T]he Department admittedly provided incorrect information in response to the FOIA request[.]”). (Bay Point Mot. to Dismiss at 12). Indeed, even the ALC acknowledged “[t]he Court is troubled by the Department’s late and inaccurate response to the Petitioner’s second FOIA request.” (Order Granting Resp’t Mot. to Dismiss at 8, n.6).

In summary, Appellant never sat on its rights. At each stage, Appellant took every step it could, based on the information available, despite circumstances shrouded in uncertainty and non-transparency, to make the appropriate legal filings within statutory time frames. Appellant should not be penalized at any stage for the failure of an administrative arm of the government to comply with its statutory obligations under FOIA.

C. The Department is ignoring the intent of the General Assembly.

Bay Point's arguments and the ALC's Order both ignore the overall legislative intent of both S.C. Code Section 44-1-60 and FOIA, suggesting an extreme result—dismissal—that is contrary to the purpose and spirit of the law by allowing an agency decision made behind closed doors to go unchallenged.

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