RECEIVED

May 16 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge
Case No.: 2022-ALJ-07-0008-CC

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001126

Gullah/Geechee Fishing Association, Inc..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, and
Bay Point Island, LLC Respondents.

FINAL JOINT BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Sara V. Martinez, Esquire
Christopher P. Whitehead, Esquire
SCDHEC
2600 Bull Street
Columbia, SC 29201
Office: 803.898.0288
Cell: 803.465.2822
Email: martinsv@dhec.sc.gov
whitehcp@dhec.sc.gov

Mary D. Shahid, Esquire

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

III. ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

Appellant's argument on all three issues on appeal casts all blame for Appellant's lack of notice and untimely challenge of the Septic Permit on SCDHEC. Specifically, Appellant makes the following claims:

- 1) SCDHEC failed to notify Appellant of the Septic Permit in response to the FOIA requests submitted by Appellant's counsel;

- 2) SCDHEC failed to recognize Appellant as an “affected person” or treat Appellant’s FOIA request as a written request for notification of a permit decision under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60; and
- 3) Appellant had “absolutely no way of knowing” that a decision had been made by SCDHEC, because there is no requirement for SCDHEC to put applications for septic permits on public notice.

In short, Appellant is attempting to blame the Department for its lack of notice and untimely challenge of the Septic Permit despite *its* choice to disregard the clear and straightforward procedure established by the General Assembly for requesting notice and challenging agency decisions in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60. Throughout this case, Appellant has repeatedly argued that § 44-1-60 does not clearly establish how any individual or entity becomes an “affected person” under this statute. This argument is nothing more than a blatant attempt to distract attention from the fact that nothing in the statute requires qualification of such status as a *prerequisite* to submission of a request for notice or SCDHEC’s acceptance of it. Regardless, Appellant could have followed the procedure outlined in § 44-1-60 *in addition* to the FOIA requests it submitted. Because it inexplicably failed to do so, it then argued to the ALC below and continues to argue that its FOIA request should have put SCDHEC on notice that affected parties existed and SCDHEC should, therefore, have provided notice of the permitting decision to Appellant. (Petitioner’s Return to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss, p. 8; R. p. 128 and Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 22.)

As explained herein, the ALC correctly found Appellant’s choice, whether intentional or not, to rely solely on its FOIA request unreasonable under the circumstances, given the lack of any legal authority suggesting that a FOIA request can or should serve as a substitute for the procedure set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60. As the ALC stated, allowing such substitution would improperly “expand the procedural

influence of a FOIA request and the Department's obligations thereto." (Order Granting Respondent Bay Point's Motion to Dismiss, p. 7; R. p. 10.) Overall, the ALC correctly recognized that the Department was *not* solely responsible for creating the circumstances resulting in dismissal of Appellant's appeal.

A. The ALC made no error, and followed valid South Carolina law, in finding that it lacked jurisdiction to hear Appellant's contested case.

In its brief, Appellant refers to the broad subject matter jurisdiction of the ALC. Respondents do not contest the fact that the ALC has the power to hear and determine timely appeals from final agency decisions of SCDHEC that reach the ALC through the process set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60. Rather, the point of Bay Point's Motion to Dismiss was that Appellant's failure to comply with procedural requirements for perfecting its appeal of the Septic Permit deprived the ALC of jurisdiction over the underlying case. The ALC called this a loss of "procedural jurisdiction," which Respondent agrees appears to be a term recently used by the ALC when dealing with issues of timeliness in relation to contested cases, such as presented with this case. (Order Granting Bay Point's Motion to Dismiss, p. 4; R. p. 7.)

As stated above, the Appellant is attempting to distract attention from its own failure to follow the statutory procedure to request notice of or to timely request review of the Septic Permit. It was this failure that precluded Appellant's eligibility for administrative remedies under this statutory process. Respondents agree that the ALC could have heard Appellant's case if Appellant had followed S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60 to request notice and timely filed a Request for Final Review. It is undisputed that Appellant failed to do so in this case.

Appellant asserts there is a lack of any precedent to support a decision of no procedural jurisdiction where a petitioner does not follow the statutory procedure to obtain judicial review. This is not correct, as there have been many cases where the ALC, the Court of Appeals, and the S.C. Supreme Court have all addressed the procedural requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60, which is entitled “Appeals from department decisions giving rise to contested case; procedures.” According to the first paragraph: “All department decisions involving the issuance, denial, renewal, suspension, or revocation of permits, licenses, or other actions of the department which may give rise to a contested case **shall be made using the procedures set forth in this section.**” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(A) (emphasis added). The statute was enacted by the General Assembly in Act Number 387, effective July 1, 2006, wherein the state legislature succinctly explained its intent in enacting the law “... to provide a uniform procedure for contested cases and appeals from administrative agencies...” Act No. 387, 53, 2006 S.C. Acts & Joint Resolutions. South Carolina Coastal Conservation League v. SCDHEC, 380 S.C. 349, 363 (2008). The South Carolina Supreme Court has found that the statute “clearly and unambiguously provides that the [department] decision is final fifteen days after notice is mailed to the applicant.” South Carolina Coastal Conservation League v. SCDHEC, 390 S.C. 418, 427 (2010).

Appellant’s argument attempts to distract from its failure to follow the procedure in S.C. Code §44-1-60 by asserting SCDHEC failed to recognize Appellant as an “affected person” and provide notification of a permit decision. Again, Respondents note that S.C. Code §44-1-60 contains no requirement for establishing “affected person” status as a prerequisite to submitting a written request for notice of a permitting decision. The

Supreme Court has not specified any particular process for an affected party to ask for notice of a Department decision, but rather, has allowed SCDHEC to use an informal approach for identifying an “affected party.” *Id.* at 428. Respondents agree with Appellant that this likely caused the addition of language to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E)(1) providing the ability for affected persons to request notification of department decisions in writing by regular mail, email or certified mail. (Appellant’s Brief p. 10, citing Act No. 278 § 1 (2010).)

Respondents do not agree, however, with Appellant’s argument that the additional language is “essentially meaningless” in providing direction to the public. On the contrary, Respondents view the language as significantly simplifying the procedure for requesting notice down to requiring only the submission of a single written communication – either by email or regular mail.² By not submitting a written request for notice of the Septic Permit, it was Appellant who deprived SCDHEC the ability to recognize it as an “affected person” by failing to follow the simple procedure laid out by the statute.

B. The ALC made no error, and followed valid South Carolina law, in finding Appellant’s Request for Final Review untimely.

Based upon the undisputed facts before the ALC, the Appellant’s failure to timely file a Request for Final Review constitutes a failure to timely exhaust its administrative remedies under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60. The language of Section 44-1-60(E)(2) plainly requires that “[t]he staff decision becomes the final agency decision fifteen calendar days

² It is normal practice, if a party is concerned about future permitting actions, to notify the appropriate department within DHEC and ask for written notification of a permitting decision. The fact that the program may not provide public notice of certain permit applications is not a deterrent. Appellant obviously has a long-standing concern regarding septic tanks on Bay Point Island and could have, and should have, contacted DHEC staff and advised them of Appellant’s interest, requesting notification thereof.

after notice of the staff decision has been mailed to the applicant, unless a written request for final review accompanied by a filing fee is filed with the department by the applicant, permittee, or affected person.” As outlined in the ALC’s Final Order, Appellant’s Request for Final Review was not filed until forty-eight (48) days after the staff decision regarding the Septic Permit was issued, or thirty-three (33) days after the decision became final. (Order Granting Respondent Bay Point’s Motion to Dismiss, pp. 4-5; R. pp. 7-8.) Thus, Appellant’s filing was untimely.

Appellant’s legal advocacy group, the South Carolina Environmental Law Project, has participated in hundreds of permit challenges and is surely aware of the process for affected parties to ask for notification of agency decisions. As explained above, Appellant deprived itself of obtaining notice of the permit by failing to follow the simple procedure laid out by the statute for requesting notification of the permitting decision at issue in this case.

C. The ALC made no error, and followed valid South Carolina law, in finding that a Freedom of Information Act does not serve as a substitute for the procedure set forth in S.C. Code §44-1-60 for requesting notification of a permitting action.

To distract from its failure to follow the procedure set forth in S.C. Code § 44-1-60 and request notification of the Septic Permit, Appellant argues that its FOIA request should have been considered and treated as a written request for notification. Appellant has never cited any authority supportive of this unreasonable assertion. As the ALC correctly ruled, it would be improper to substitute an FOIA request for the *specific* statutory procedure set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(E)(1). As reasoned by the Court, allowing such substitution would not only “significantly expand the procedural influence of an FOIA request,” but would also be outside the stated purpose for which FOIA was

created. Order Granting Respondent Bay Point's Motion to Dismiss, p. 7; R. p. 10.) Moreover, such substitution would render the statutory procedure set for in S.C. Code § 44-1-60 essentially meaningless.

South Carolina's FOIA was drafted to provide an avenue for the general public access to public documents or meetings. See, <https://www.scag.gov/freedom-of-information-act-foia/> and S.C. Code Ann § 30-4-15. There is no language in the FOIA statute suggesting that it should be used for any purpose other than providing public access to agency records.

Even though Appellant's failure to request written notice of the Septic Permit was clearly the root cause of the Appellant being "in the dark" about the permit, Appellant continues to inappropriately attempt to shift the burden of notifying affected parties of permitting decisions to Respondent SCDHEC. Appellant has done so throughout this case because it lacks any valid justification for its failure to send a simple email to SCDHEC asking for notice of any department decision. Instead of facing this omission, Appellant has repeatedly claimed in all its prior filings that SCDHEC should have been required to issue a public notice of this septic system application and permit. There is no legal authority requiring SCDHEC to public notice septic permits.³ Additionally, and inconsequential to the untimeliness of Appellant's Request for Final Review, Appellant has repeatedly claimed in all its prior filings that SCDHEC should have been required to certify that this Septic Permit does not contravene the Department's Coastal Zone Management Program. Again, the legal authority does not support this claim.

³ Again, the fact that a program may not provide public notice of certain permit applications is not a deterrent from parties requesting notice of a permitting decision or challenging it pursuant to S.C. Code § 44-1-60.

CONCLUSION

Appellant claims that its FOIA requests entitled it to receive notification of the Septic Permit, but this Court must not lose sight of the fact that SCDHEC provides extensive instruction on its website⁴ related to submitted FOIA requests, including that information provided in the submittal must include the “file custodian/staff contact.” None of Appellant’s FOIA requests included information related to the appropriate staff/department. Instead, Appellant submitted incorrect information identifying the Bureau of Water and the Office of Ocean and Coastal Resource Management. Moreover, Appellant has no legal authority to support this claim, the practical result of which would be to improperly “expand the procedural influence of a FOIA request and the Department’s obligations thereto.” See, p. 5, *infra*.

In conclusion, Appellant ignored the stated procedure set forth in S.C. Code § 44-1-60 for requesting notice of a permitting decision and timely filing a Request for Final Review of such decision. The procedure affords Appellant and the public a method for obtaining notice and challenging a permitting decision. Appellant simply failed to use it in this case.

Accordingly, Respondents respectfully request that the opinion of the Administrative Law Court granting Respondent Bay Point’s Motion to Dismiss be upheld in its entirety.